REGULATORY PANEL

WEDNESDAY 8 OCTOBER 2014 AT 2.00PM

PRESENT: Councillor Bell (Chairman), Councillors Bowman S, Ms Franklin, Morton, Mrs

Parsons, Scarborough, Mrs Stevenson, Stothard (as substitute for Councillor Cape). Mrs Prest (as substitute for Councillor Lavden). Mrs Warwick and

Wilson.

OFFICERS: Principal Lawyer

Licensing Manager Licensing Officer

RP.22/14 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Betton, Cape and Layden.

RP.23/14 DECLARATION OF INTEREST

Councillor Mrs Parsons declared an interest in accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct. Councillor Mrs Parsons stated that she had known the witness and had been informed of the details of the incident in advance of the meeting and accordingly would retire from the Panel and take no part in the decision today.

RP.24/14 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meetings held on 3 September 2014 be noted.

RP.25/14 HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER – DUTY OF CARE TO PASSENGER

Councillor Mrs Parsons, having declared an interest, retired from the Panel and took no part in this item of business.

The Licensing Officer submitted report GD.45/14 regarding a complaint which had been received against a licensed Hackney Carriage Driver.

Mr Mulholland (the licensed Hackney Carriage Driver), Mr Chris Bray (Mr Mulholland's representative) and Mrs Carruthers (the complainant) were in attendance at the meeting.

The Chairman introduced the Panel and Officers in attendance.

The Principal Lawyer outlined the procedure the Panel would follow. Mr Mulholland confirmed that he had received and read the Licensing Officer's report.

The Licensing Officer outlined the licensing history pertaining to Mr Mulholland who had been a licensed Hackney Carriage Driver with the City Council since 1998. Mr Mulholland had come to the attention of the Licensing Office on a number of occasions but none of the issues were of a similar nature to the complaint.

The Licensing Officer reported that on 26 August 2014 the Licensing Office had received a complaint from Mrs Carruthers. Mrs Carruthers reported that her daughter had taken a taxi from the Warwick Road rank at 9.45pm on Saturday 16 August 2014 to travel home to Brampton. Her daughter (Miss Carruthers) had attended a party in the Andalusian and had decided to go home as she had had enough to drink. She had been unsuccessful in contacting Mrs Carruthers and had taken a taxi. An hour later Miss Carruthers had been found in Warwick Bridge, semi conscious and suffering from hypothermia as the weather had been cold with heavy rain. She was taken to hospital, where initially, medical staff had been unable to find her blood pressure. Unfortunately, as a side effect of the hypothermia, Miss Carruthers had no memory of what happened that evening.

Mrs Carruthers had been extremely concerned that her daughter had been let out/thrown out of a taxi by the side of a busy road and felt that the driver had been negligent and feared that other people in a similar position may be treated in the same way in the future. Mrs Carruthers gave the Licensing Office details of the lady who cared for her daughter until the ambulance arrived.

The Paramedics who had attended had been concerned that Miss Carruthers had been left there in a vulnerable condition by the taxi driver and contacted the Police. The Police visited Miss Carruthers in hospital to take a statement. The Police had been satisfied that no criminal offences had been committed and advised the family to report the incident to Licensing.

Mrs Carruthers had reported to the Licensing Office that she could not understand how her daughter had come to be left in Warwick Bridge as there were no family connections there. She surmised that her daughter may have been sick or wanted to be sick in the taxi and was then abandoned by the driver, although there had been no evidence on her clothes of her being sick.

The Licensing Officer reported that the driver, Mr Mulholland, had been identified using CCTV footage. Mr Mulholland was interviewed by the Licensing Officer on 4 September 2014 and recalled the fare. He stated that Miss Carruthers had 'seemed ok' initially but he had soon realised that she was 'very boozy' he remembered her mumbling, possibly on the phone and also remembered she was falling asleep. He had to pull in to a lay-by at the bottom of Warwick Road to establish where in Brampton she wanted to go, as he had been concerned that she would fall asleep and he would not get her address. On driving over Warwick Bridge Mr Mulholland said Miss Carruthers had been 'gagging' and was possibly going to be sick. He had pulled into a lay-by/exit of Holme Eden Abby just over the bridge, leaned over and opened the door, he had told her to 'get out and sort yourself out'. Mr Mulholland said that Miss Carruthers walked away from the taxi, he waited a few minutes, pipped the horn, then did a u turn back to Carlisle.

The Licensing Officer had asked Mr Mulholland if he had asked for the fare to which he had replied that he 'didn't normally charge someone on their own if they walked off' and that 'it wasn't worth it'.

The Licensing Officer informed Mr Mulholland what had happened to Miss Carruthers and he had replied 'what could I have done? I couldn't man handle a girl back to my taxi'. The Licensing Officer explained that Mr Mulholland had a duty of care to his passengers and that he could have informed the Police that he had left a vulnerable girl or he could have gone after her to ensure she had another means of getting home.

The CCTV footage of Miss Carruthers getting in the taxi had been shown to Miss Carruthers in the hope it would help her remember the evening, unfortunately it had not.

The Licensing Officer took a witness statement from Mrs Round by telephone on 19 September 2014 and this had been included as Appendix B in the report.

The Licensing Officer added that Mr Mulholland had received training on 1 May 2013 where the duty of care to passengers had been discussed. The Licensing Officer explained the meaning of duty of care as set out in the report and stated that as a result of the complaint the word 'vulnerable' had been added to the driver codes of practice. Number ten of the code stated that 'a driver must provide reasonable assistance to all types of passengers'; this has been amended to 'reasonable assistance shall be provided to wheelchair bound, disabled, elderly and vulnerable passengers'. This, however, did not change the driver's common law duty of care.

The Licensing Officer showed the Panel the CCTV footage of Miss Carruthers getting into Mr Mulholland's taxi.

A Member asked if Mr Mulholland had a radio in his vehicle as, he felt, that drivers with radios would record their routes and incidents like this, where CCTV footage had to be found, would not occur. He asked that the Licensing Officers look to amend the regulations to ensure that Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles had a radio channel.

In response to questions the Licensing Officer clarified the following points:

- Mr Mulholland did not have a radio in his vehicle as he worked solely from the rank;
- There was no requirement for a driver to have a radio in their vehicle;
- Miss Carruthers had not given a formal statement as she could not remember the events that took place;
- Miss Carruthers had got into the second taxi in the queue at the rank, the first vehicle had been a black taxi and passengers often, mistakenly, thought that they were more expensive then the white saloon vehicles. The driver of the second car had asked to get in the first vehicle as is protocol. Miss Carruthers, instead, got out of the vehicle and went to the taxi behind which was Mr Mulholland's vehicle. At that point the first two vehicles took passengers and left the rank.

Mrs Carruthers then addressed the Panel. She explained that she usually collected her daughters when they were on a night out as she had told them not to get into taxis on their own. Her daughter had called her but she was travelling back from Scotland at the time. Her daughter then made the decision to get a taxi which was the safe route to get home. The driver accepted the fare knowing she had been drinking as he would be used to on a Saturday evening. Mrs Carruthers assumed the driver stopped at Warwick Bridge so her daughter could be sick then he left her on a cold wet evening wearing clothing that young people wear for nights out. Her daughter was six miles from home near a busy road and river in an isolated area. The driver had told her to get out and 'sort herself out', how would a young person know what that meant? Did she get back in the car? Would she want to if he had asked her to get out? Mrs Carruthers queried how many times the driver had done this before as she had heard stories about people being left at Warwick Bridge before.

Mrs Carruthers added that the meaning of duty of care was clear and her daughter had been responsible enough to get in a taxi. The City had a University and steps should be taken to keep the City safe and one of those steps would be safe taxis. Her daughter had

been left with no help and had ended up in hospital. If the driver asked her to get out to avoid her been sick his vehicle and made sure she was ok Mrs Carruthers could have understood this and had she been sick in his vehicle she would have expected a bill for that, his loss of earnings did not compare to a loss of life. The consequences of the driver's action resulted in Mrs Carruthers daughter being hospitalised for hypothermia.

Mr Bray then addressed the Panel on behalf of Mr Mulholland. Mr Bray stated that Miss Carruthers was not abandoned by Mr Mulholland as she walked away from the vehicle on her own accord. Mr Mulholland waited, blew the horn then returned to town. Miss Carruthers was going to be sick, all drivers had been in that situation, all he wanted to do was get her out of the car and she wandered off. He asked the Panel to disregard the term 'thrown out' in paragraph 2.8 of the report as she was not thrown out of the vehicle. He also asked them to disregard the training set out in paragraph 3.1 as there had been no mention of alcohol in the training.

He reported that the 16 August was wet but was 13 degrees so was very mild. It had been reported that Miss Carruthers had no relocation of the event as a result of the hypothermia but he felt it was actually as a result of the alcohol. Miss Carruthers had first said her destination was Brampton then Longtown, from that Mr Mulholland pieced together her destination but she had had too much alcohol that night. He felt that the only offence that had occurred was Miss Carruthers leaving the vehicle without paying. He questioned what constituted as vulnerable as many drivers have drunk people who wandered off, it happened all the time.

With regard to the option of phoning the Police he explained that there was a very low response rate from the Police and drivers had been known to wait up to two hours for a response. He gave an example of this happening.

Mr Bray finished by stating that he had known Mr Mulholland for 20 years and there had never been any complaints made against him. Mr Mulholland never hesitated to help and he was well liked throughout the trade. Mr Mulholland was a father, grandfather and husband who had recently supported his wife through cancer. Mr Mulholland had suffered an attack and had his taxi stolen and he still lived with the psychological pain of the incident.

Mr Bray asked that the Panel consider option 2 as taking Mr Mulholland's livelihood would serve no purpose as Mr Mulholland was a credit to the industry.

The Principal Lawyer clarified that alcohol had been included as part of the Disability Awareness training and drew Members attention to the training slide at Appendix C of the report which clearly stated 'Variety of people, sober, drunk, carrying food Duty of care'.

In response to questions Mr Bray and Mr Mulholland clarified the following:

- Mr Mulholland was not admitting to being guilty by requesting that the Panel issue a warning letter;
- In retrospect Mr Mulholland would not have carried out anything differently;
- When Miss Carruthers was asked for a destination at Warwick Road she had initially stated Longtown;
- Mr Mulholland had asked Miss Carruthers to get out of the car as she had been asleep and then started 'gagging';
- Mr Mulholland had waited 2-3 minutes for her to return to the car;

- When Miss Carruthers got in the vehicle she had stated her destination as Brampton then she told him Longtown. He had stopped on Warwick Road as she was going to sleep and he had wanted to be sure of their destination;
- Mr Mulholland had been a driver since 1998 and he considered himself to be a professional driver;
- There was a maximum charge of £35 when a passenger soiled the vehicle, when this
 happened it meant the vehicle had to be taken off the road to be cleaned and it was
 usually the end of the shift for that driver;
- When a passenger left a vehicle in those circumstances you expected them to get back into the vehicle;
- Mr Mulholland explained that he had stopped in the layby as he had thought Miss Carruthers was going to be sick as she gagged and was asleep. He pulled over immediately. He leaned over her as she was in the front passenger seat, and opened the door and said 'would you mid getting out and sort yourself out' he had had to touch her shoulder to wake her up. When he said 'sort yourself out' he meant don't be sick in the car. Miss Carruthers had not been sick and she walked away toward Brampton. He had waited 2-3 minutes; she had not been sick in this time and had not walked very far. He pipped the car horn then did a u-turn back to town, Miss Carruthers had still been in sight on the path. There had been no other vehicles or people about.

He added that Miss Carruthers had a mobile phone and he had assumed she would call a friend as she had been using the mobile in the car. He had not thought to ask her if she had someone to call. He agreed that he would not like to have thought of a child of his in the same situation and would call the Police if a similar incident happened again. He said he was very sorry that this had happened.

In summing up, the Licensing Officer reminded the Panel of the relevant Legislation and outlined the options open to the Panel in reaching a decision.

RESOLVED – That the Panel had carefully considered and read the evidence in the report and listened carefully to the responses and heard Mrs Carruthers.

There was a long deliberation and the Panel have reached the conclusion that Mr Mulholland be issued with a strongly worded letter and this is by the narrowest majority 6 votes to 4. When Mr Mulholland gave evidence he said that it wouldn't happen again. This authority expects Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers to carry out their duty of care especially to vulnerable passengers.

Mr Mulholland will be given notice of the decision in writing within 14 days and have the opportunity to appeal within 21 days.

The Panel had a discussion and would like Mr Mulholland to receive further training in respect of general duty of care and responsibility towards vulnerable passengers and ask that Mr Mulholland carefully consider our strong recommendation to speak to the Licensing Officers and arrange as soon as practicable a session covering that part.